1992

GRO Enterprises, Inc., dba Chicago Barter Corp. v. National Insurance Marketing Services, Inc., a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court had jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code, since it is a consolidated appeal from the district court of a matter over which the Court of Appeals did not have original jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals now has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(j) as a case transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.

Appellate jurisdiction was originally invoked by reason of Notices of Appeal filed in compliance with Rule 3.(a) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, namely, the Notice of Appeal dated September 16, 1991, which was deemed to have given notice of an appeal of the Default Judgment entered nunc pro tunc as of August 22, 1991, and by reason of the Notice of Appeal dated Monday February 24, 1992, which gave notice of an appeal of the Order dated January 23, 1992 denying defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, which Motion was filed on November 18, 1991 and was likewise deemed to have referred to the same Default Judgment.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellant asserts that the standard of review under Darrington v. Wade, 812 P.2d 452 (Utah App. 1991) is whether the trial court abused its discretion, and the pertinent issues are as follows:

1. Did the trial court err by sanctioning the failure to respond to discovery with a Default Judgment entered in the principal sum of \$12,559.70 (giving no allowance for the \$11,050

plus interest claimed as a credit) on the basis of an order entered when defendant was unrepresented by counsel, where after the appearance of new counsel and the breakdown of settlement negotiations, appropriate response was made to the discovery within a month despite defendant's principal officer being in Chile?

2. Did the trial court err by refusing to set aside in the interest of justice a Default Judgment which resulted from a sanction for the failure to respond to discovery and which Default Judgment was entered in the principal sum of \$12,559.70 (giving no allowance for the \$11,050 plus interest claimed as a credit) on the basis of an order entered when defendant was unrepresented by counsel, where after the appearance of new counsel and the breakdown of settlement negotiations, appropriate response was made to the discovery within a month despite defendant's principal officer being in Chile?

RULE TO BE INTERPRETED

Rule 60(b) provides:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;
....

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was brought by plaintiff to collect a debt on an account. The action was defended on the basis of payments, that credits omitted in the accounting offset at least the amount plaintiff claimed. Following the filing of a motion to compel a

response to discovery, the trial court ordered interrogatories answered within 10 days at a time when defendant was without counsel. New counsel entered into settlement negotiation before answering the interrogatories. Once the settlement negotiations failed, the interrogatories were answered within 30 days despite the absence of a key principal of defendant. Nevertheless, the sanction of a Default Judgment was entered and the trial court refused to set that Judgment aside.

The facts in more detail are as follows, with citations to the record on appeal (ROA):

1. This was a collection action based on defendant's alleged failure to timely pay an account with plaintiff. ROA at 2.

2. Summons in this action was served on defendant on December 6, 1990, along with a copy of the Complaint dated November 2, 1990. ROA at 7.

3. Following receipt of defendants' Answer, and on January 3, 1991, plaintiff served defendant with Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents, bearing that same date of January 3, 1991. ROA at 10, 12.

4. On April 3, 1991, plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel defendant to respond to that discovery, which Motion was followed by a Request to Submit for Decision dated April 19, 1991. ROA at 13, 21.

5. A couple of days later, on April 22, 1991, defendant's attorney, Terry C. Turner, mailed his Withdrawal of Counsel, which was followed by the plaintiff's Notice to Appear or Appoint New

Counsel dated May 1, 1991. ROA at 28, 30.

6. While defendant was without counsel, a Minute Entry was made dated April 23, 1991 granting "defendant's" Motion to Compel, including reasonable attorney's fees of \$127.50, noting the lack of opposition. The Minute Entry also required a response within ten days to avoid "dismissal." ROA at 23.

7. Plaintiff's counsel then wrote the trial court to explain that there had been a mix-up in the designations, and that it was plaintiff's Motion, warranting the striking of defendant's Answer, and submitted a corresponding Order. ROA at 26.

8. The Order thus submitted, which required a response to discovery within ten days, was executed on May 1, 1991, and followed up with a corresponding Amended Minute Entry dated May 9, 1991, all while defendant was without counsel. ROA at 24, 32.

9. On or about May 10, 1991, Delwin T. Pond was retained to represent the defendant, and the defendant's principal advised its new attorney of the need to answer some interrogatories and gave no indication of a desire postpone or avoid that task. A copy of his affidavits attesting to these facts and others referred to hereinbelow is attached hereto. ROA at 40, 81.

10. However, Mr. Pond felt there was a good possibility to settle the entire matter and on that date he spoke with plaintiff's counsel concerning the possibility of settlement, which conversation was followed by an exchange of documentation, including a document dated May 26, 1987 showing the items returned by defendant to plaintiff for a total credit of \$11,050. ROA at 82, 84.

11. Defendant halted these negotiations by means of a letter to Mr. Pond dated June 3, 1991, a copy of which is attached hereto, indicating that no credit would be given for those items and setting a deadline of June 14, 1991 for the response to discovery. ROA at 38.

12. Mr. Pond immediately forwarded a copy of this letter to defendant and followed that up with a telephone call on June 10, 1991. However, the officer with the information needed to respond to discovery had gone to Chile for a month. ROA at 41.

13. After contacting other principals of the defendant and trying on numerous occasions to contact defendant's former attorney, Mr. Pond was finally able to get through to the officer in Chile so he could draft an accurate response, which response was signed by an officer of defendant's available locally, and served July 3, 1991. ROA at 41, 82-83, 43. A copy of these Answers to Interrogatories is attached hereto. ROA at 75.

14. Meanwhile, plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Default dated June 27, 1991. On July 3, 1991 defendant responded by serving an Affidavit in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Judgment setting forth the pertinent foregoing facts. Plaintiff then filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Leslie Van Frank dated July 10, 1991 and a Request to Submit for Decision dated July 16, 1991. ROA at 33, 40, 44, 47.

15. By means of a Minute Entry dated July 31, 1991, the trial court granted plaintiff's said Motion for Entry of Default. It then executed the Order and Default Judgment, the latter granting

judgment for the \$12,559.70 principal sought (giving no allowance for the \$11,050 plus interest in credit), which together with interest, costs, and attorneys' fees brought the total judgment to \$18,103.95. On March 16, 1992, this Order and Default Judgment were entered nunc pro tunc as of August 22, 1991. ROA at 49, 50, 135, 139(?).

16. A Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was the only post judgment motion, and was filed on November 18, 1991. It was supported by a Memorandum and an Affidavit of Delwin T. Pond and copies of the responses to discovery. ROA at 62, 64, 81, 75.

17. A Request for Hearing on the matter was denied in a Minute Entry dated December 19, 1991, and the Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was denied in an Order dated and entered January 23, 1992. ROA at 100, 105.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. There was no willfulness in the failure to respond to discovery which would justify the harsh sanction of a default judgment.

The cases require a showing of willfulness, bad faith, or fault to justify sanctioning a failure to respond in a timely manner to discovery, and especially to justify the harsh sanction of the entry of a default judgment. In the instant matter, there was no need to "deter misconduct." There was no "aggravated misconduct." There was no "willful and deliberate disobedience of discovery orders." There was no "bad faith conduct." There was nothing that would rise to the level of "intentional failure," or

anything close to demonstrating willfulness.

2. The harsh sanction of a default judgment should have been set aside in the interest of justice.

Once the default judgment in the sum of \$18,103.95 plus interest and costs had been entered, it should have been set aside in the interest of justice in view of the neglect being excusable and since the defendant's credits may well have completely offset the principal amounts claimed by the plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

1. THERE WAS NO WILLFULNESS IN THE FAILURE TO RESPOND TO DISCOVERY WHICH WOULD JUSTIFY THE HARSH SANCTION OF A DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

In 1984, the Utah Supreme Court addressed the issue of the imposition of sanctions when a party fails to respond to an order compelling discovery in a case quoted several times since by the Utah Court of Appeals, namely, First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Schamanek, 684 P.2d 1257, 1266 (Utah 1984).

In that case, the Supreme Court emphasized that for such sanctions to be imposed, there needed to be an element of willfulness in the failure to respond to the order compelling discovery:

The general rule is that a party in a civil case who refuses to respond to an order compelling discovery is subject to sanctions pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C). [Citation.] The sanctions are intended to deter misconduct in connection with discovery, [citation], and require a showing of "willfulness, bad faith, or fault" on the part of the non-complying party. Id. [Emphasis added.]

Obviously, more than the mere failure to respond is required for the sanctions to be imposed. Whereas a simple failure

to respond to summons justifies entry of a default and default judgment, a simple failure to respond to discovery does not. The party seeking a sanction for the failure to respond bears the burden of demonstrating not only a failure to respond to discovery, but that the failure was willful, or there was bad faith, or some other additional fault.

In First Federal, a civil case, the issue was whether the defendant wrongfully retrieved a check after being paid for it. When she was asked to admit taking the check, she affirmatively refused to answer, and maintained this refusal despite an order compelling a response. Thus willfulness was clearly present.

The opinion in Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah App. 1989) included a quotation of some of the same language of the Supreme Court quoted above. That language was used by the Court of Appeals to show that it is harsh to sanction a party for failure to comply with discovery:

Imposing sanctions for a party's refusal to respond to a court order compelling discovery is a harsh sanction and therefore, requires "a showing of 'willfulness, bad faith, or fault' on the part of the non-complying party." Id. at 961. [Emphasis added.]

This Amica court went on to say that although wrongful intent need not be shown, willfulness does involve at least an intentional failure:

"Willful failure" has been defined as "'any intentional failure as distinguished from involuntary noncompliance. ...'" Id.

The sanction in the Amica case was upheld. The non-complying party failed to demonstrate that there was any inability to comply.

Although no findings were made of "willfulness, bad faith, or fault," the record clearly showed the existence thereof, allowing the the imposition of sanctions to be upheld.

The record in this case clearly demonstrates a pattern of aggravated misconduct in the form of willful and deliberate disobedience of discovery orders, fabricated testimony, and attempted witness tampering. In light of this overwhelming evidence of willful and bad faith conduct, the trial court's failure to make a specific finding of willfulness was not reversible error. Id. at 962.

In the case of Schoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc., 790 P.2d 584 (Utah App. 1990), other factors seemed to have reduced the burden of showing "willfulness, bad faith, or fault." Although answers to the interrogatories were tendered at the hearing on the motion for sanctions, default judgment was entered against the plaintiff based on the failure to respond in a timely manner.

The Schoney case had been pending for five years at the trial court level. There had been five amended complaints. The plaintiff had narrowly escaped summary judgment. The trial court obviously was growing impatient and wanted to move the case along. The court had imposed a discovery cut-off date, and the trial date was set for only a few weeks thereafter. The failure to respond hurt the defendant's position, not only with respect to the discovery propounded, but also with respect to any follow-up discovery that might be deemed appropriate in light of the responses.

Thus in the Schoney case, the failure to respond in a timely manner became much more analogous to a failure to respond in a timely manner to a summons. Therefore, the appellate court

concluded there had not been an abuse of discretion "given the posture of this case." Id. at 586.

In the case of Darrington v. Wade, 812 P.2d 452 (Utah App. 1991), the issue was whether the trial court abused its discretion when it set aside the default judgment it previously entered as a discovery sanction. An order requiring the payment of additional costs and attorney fees had been substituted as the discovery sanction.

The Court of Appeals first found that the conduct of the sanctioned party, including obnoxious litigation strategies, did indeed rise to the level which would justify discovery sanctions. Therefore, the appellate court probably would not have reversed the trial court had it left the default judgment in place, and would have reversed had there been no sanction imposed.

Specifically, the defendants had avoided service of process and had to be served by publication. They then refused to cooperate with discovery over a period of two years. Default judgment had been entered once for this failure to respond to discovery and was then set aside.

Even after this, defendants continued to be elusive and uncooperative, resulting in a motion to compel, which was granted. One appearance at a deposition resulted, but when no documents were produced, and other depositions scheduled, the defendants did not appear. Hence the second default judgment was entered.

In upholding the trial court's decision to substitute another sanction for that this second default judgment, the Darrington

opinion stated that "default judgment is an unusually harsh sanction that should be meted out with caution," citing Amica. Id. at 546. [Emphasis added.]

The Darrington court then cited Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92 (Utah 1986) for the proposition that the trial court was within its discretion in setting aside the default judgment.

In the instant matter, there was no "willfulness, bad faith, or fault" of the type necessary to impose discovery sanctions. The only fault that might exist would be negligence, that is, excusable neglect. And that would not be the kind of fault meant. Under the principles of ejusdem generis, the fault needs to be of a type analogous to willfulness or bad faith. Nephi City v. Hansen, 779 P.2d 673, 675 (Utah 1989).

In the instant matter, there was no need to "deter misconduct." There was no "aggravated misconduct." There was no "willful and deliberate disobedience of discovery orders." There was no "bad faith conduct." There was nothing that would rise to the level of "intentional failure," or anything close to demonstrating willfulness.

Rather, as indicated in the affidavits of Delwin T. Pond attached hereto, the defendant's principal advised its new attorney of the need to answer some interrogatories and gave no indication of a desire postpone or avoid that task. ROA at 81. After a period of negotiation, there were the strenuous efforts described in the affidavits of Delwin T. Pond to comply with the discovery requests despite that principal being in Chile at the time. ROA 41, 82-83.

It is true that these efforts did not reach fruition until 19 days after the 11-day deadline set by opposing counsel. But there was certainly no willfulness nor bad faith in this simple failure to comply in a timely manner.

Likewise there were no factors which would justify a lower standard of willfulness. This matter had not been pending two to five years. There had been no discovery cut-off date or trial date set.

Even had there been such willfulness as to justify imposing sanctions for failure to comply with discovery, it would certainly not rise to the level of justifying the entry of a default judgment, "an unusually harsh sanction that should be meted out with caution." Darrington, supra, at 546.

2. THE HARSH SANCTION OF A DEFAULT JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SET ASIDE IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

Rule 60(b) provides:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; ... [Emphasis added.]

In the first part of the opinion found in Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court recited some basic principles to be applied in ruling on a motion under Rule 60(b):

The court should be generally indulgent toward setting a judgment aside where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to answer and when timely application is made. Where there is doubt about whether a default should be set aside, that doubt should

be resolved in favor of doing so.

That case also suggested the trial court consider the preference to allow the presentation of all claims and defenses, the unfairness of a party's conduct, the resulting hardships, as well as the fact that the trial court should liberally grant relief from a default.

In the instant matter, the hardship to the defendant of leaving the judgment in place was extreme, and it was in the interest of justice to allow the presentation of all defenses.

In response to the plaintiff's Request for Production of Documents, defendant produced a copy of the letter to plaintiff dated May 26, 1987 itemizing the returns resulting in a credit of \$11,050 on that date, a copy of which letter is attached to the Affidavit of Delwin T. Pond dated November 15, 1991 attached hereto. ROA at 84. This credit was wrongfully refused by defendant. Thus although the plaintiff sued for the principal amount of \$12,559.70, that amount was only \$1,509.70 more than the omitted credit.

Discovery on the part of the defendant had not been pursued. It might well have shown that the principal amount owing was not \$12,559.70 before allowing any credit for the returns, but \$10,873.37, as indicated in the letter to defendant from plaintiff's attorney dated November 28, 1989, a copy of which is attached hereto. ROA at 80. In the latter case, the credit due defendant in 1987 would exceed the amount due the plaintiff in 1989.

The furtherance of justice required that the defendant be

allowed to present its defenses rather than being subjected to a default judgment in the sum of \$18,103.95 plus interest and costs.

CONCLUSION

There was not the requisite showing of willfulness, bad faith, or fault to justify the harsh sanction of the entry of a default judgment for the failure to respond in a timely manner to discovery requests. Once the default judgment in the sum of \$18,103.95 plus interest and costs had been entered, it should have been set aside in the interest of justice in view of the neglect being excusable and since a trial on the merits may well have shown that the defendant's credits had completely offset the principal amounts claimed by the plaintiff, and that the plaintiff's Complaint should have been dismissed, no cause of action.

Therefore, this Court should vacate the Order and Default Judgment entered below and remand for a continuation of the litigation.