1992

# GRO Enterprises, Inc., dba Chicago Barter Corporation v. National Insurance Marketing Services, Inc., a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I. The trial court properly imposed sanctions against NIMS for its failure to cooperate in discovery. A judgment by default is a sanction available to a trial court upon a party's failure to fulfill its discovery obligations. In the case below, NIMS received during the course of the litigation, not one, but four extensions of time within which to answer outstanding discovery. NIMS made continual unfulfilled promises that it would answer the discovery promptly, delaying the litigation for months. NIMS never advised GRO Enterprises or the court that it was having any difficulty answering the discovery until after GRO Enterprises had moved the court for entry of judgment. Based upon NIMS's conduct, the trial court acted well within its discretion by sanctioning NIMS's conduct with entry of default judgment.

POINT II. NIMS's "Rule 60(b)" motion was in substance a motion to reconsider. The "excusable neglect" upon which NIMS's motion was predicated was not neglect in responding to the Motion to Enter Default, but alleged neglect in failing to answer discovery. In entering default judgment, the court had already ruled on that allegation of neglect. NIMS's "Rule 60(b)" motion was merely an effort to have the court reconsider its previous ruling. Such a motion is abortive under the rules and was properly denied.

POINT III. NIMS did not show sufficient grounds under Rule 60(b) to justify setting aside the default judgment. NIMS argues that the "interests of justice" mandate setting aside the

judgment, and that the judgment is a hardship to NIMS because it claims a credit. Therefore, NIMS argues, it should be allowed to present its defenses. NIMS's reliance on Rule 60(b) is misplaced, for the merits of the case cannot be considered on a Rule 60(b) motion. There was no "excusable neglect" sufficient to support a Rule 60(b) motion, given NIMS's conduct, and the trial court acted within its discretion in denying the motion.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I.**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED SANCTIONS AGAINST NIMS FOR ITS FAILURE TO COOPERATE IN DISCOVERY.**

Rule 37(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the options available to a trial court in the event a litigant violates a court order and refuses to cooperate in discovery.

The general rule is that a party in a civil case who refuses to respond to an order compelling discovery is subject to sanctions pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C). The sanctions are intended to deter misconduct in connection with discovery, and require a showing of "willfulness, bad faith, or fault" on the part of the non-complying party. The choice of an appropriate discovery sanction is primarily the responsibility of the trial judge and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. (citations omitted).

First Federal Savings & Loan Assoc. v. Schamanek, 684 P.2d 1257 (Utah 1984). In explaining the trial court's latitude with respect to Rule 37(b), the Utah Court of Appeals in Schoney v. Memorial Estates, 790 P.2d 584 (Utah App. 1990), stated:

Management of the actions pending before it is uniquely the business of the trial court and while an appellate court may, of course, intervene if discretion is abused, we accord trial courts consi-

derable latitude in this regard and considerable deference to their determinations concerning discovery.

Id. at 585.

Among the possible sanctions available to the trial court upon a party's failure to fulfill its discovery obligations is the rendering of a judgment by default against the disobedient party. Rule 37(b)(2)(C). Thus a trial court's decision to enter a default judgment as a sanction against an uncooperative defendant is subject to review only for abuse of discretion.

A review of the record in the instant case reveals NIMS as an elusive and uncooperative defendant:

1. During the course of the litigation, NIMS received not one, but four extensions of time within which to answer the discovery. At first, NIMS failed to respond to the discovery by its due date on February 6, 1991. GRO Enterprises wrote to NIMS's counsel and asked that a response be filed. NIMS advised that it needed an extra week, which extension GRO Enterprises granted. On March 6th, GRO Enterprises once again requested NIMS to answer the discovery. NIMS thanked GRO Enterprises for the two extensions, and promised that the answers would be filed promptly. GRO Enterprises waited another three weeks before it finally filed its Motion to Compel on April 3, 1992. The time for filing a response to the Motion to Compel expired on April 16. NIMS made no response to the motion, so GRO Enterprises submitted it to the court for decision. The court ordered NIMS to answer, and gave it until May



11th to respond.<sup>4</sup> After the appearance of NIMS's new counsel, GRO Enterprises gave NIMS another extension, until June 14th. Even at that point, GRO Enterprises waited until June 27th before finally moving the court for sanctions. NIMS had ample opportunity to file a response, from February 6, 1991 when the answers were first due, until June 27th, when GRO Enterprises finally filed its motion for entry of default.

2. NIMS delayed GRO Enterprises for months with continual promises that it would answer the discovery promptly. In February, NIMS's counsel promised the overdue discovery answers within the week. He indicated he had been out of the country and had not been able to prepare the answers. Again in March, NIMS promised a prompt response to the unanswered discovery. The excuse

---

<sup>4</sup> The withdrawal of NIMS's counsel at this time is a red herring that has no bearing on NIMS's responsibility to cooperate in the discovery process or on the court's subsequent sanction of NIMS's conduct. Notably, entry of the May 1 order is not on appeal. The Motion to Compel was granted on May 1st because 1) the trial judge had obviously not yet seen or apparently even received the withdrawal, 2) good cause appeared for granting the motion based on NIMS's failure to meet two extension deadlines, and 3) no opposition had been filed by the April 16th deadline for any such opposition. The purported April 22d withdrawal, filed with the court on May 1st, came after expiration of the deadline for opposition to the Motion to Compel and after GRO Enterprises had served its Request to Submit the Motion for Decision.

Furthermore, the entry of the Order on May 1st did not prejudice NIMS in any way. NIMS had shirked its discovery responsibilities before the court ever entered the May 1st order. After the order was entered, and knowing that it had not met previous deadlines, NIMS further delayed by proffering an already rejected settlement through counsel who were unaware of previous negotiations. NIMS's principal, well aware that the settlement had already been rejected, then left the country without making adequate arrangements for the discovery to be answered. After its May 1st Order, the court gave NIMS 10 days to answer the discovery. NIMS obtained new counsel on May 10th, and the Motion for Entry of Default was not filed until weeks later, on June 27th.

then was that NIMS's principal officer had been out of the country and could not assist in preparation of the answers. The answers were promised to be filed promptly. Then after the Motion to Compel had been granted and after NIMS obtained new counsel, NIMS once again promised answers; this time they would be delivered on June 17th. Despite all NIMS's promises, no answers at all were filed until after GRO Enterprises filed its Motion for Entry of Default. And even then, NIMS did not file a response to the Request for Production of Documents. NIMS's continued course of conduct in promising responses to the discovery delayed the case for months.

3. NIMS did not advise GRO Enterprises or the court that it was having difficulty meeting the final June 14th extension, until after GRO Enterprises had moved the court for entry of default. NIMS's counsel's affidavits claim that as of June 10th, NIMS's principal officer was out of the country and unable to assist him in answering the discovery requests. GRO Enterprises was not advised of that fact, but instead, on June 14th was told the answers would be filed on June 17th. GRO Enterprises did not file its Motion for Entry of Default until ten days after that, on June 27th. Yet even with that one final extension of time, and despite GRO Enterprises's forewarning that it would ask the court for entry of default, NIMS made no further effort to communicate with GRO Enterprises, and made no motion to the court for an extension of time. The alleged difficulty in obtaining discovery

responses was not raised until after the Motion to Enter Default had been filed.

A review of the record shows that the court had ample grounds to disbelieve NIMS's claim that its failure to cooperate was without fault. The trial court acted well within its discretion by sanctioning NIMS's conduct and entering its default.

POINT II.

NIMS' S "RULE 60(B)" MOTION WAS SIMPLY  
A MOTION TO RECONSIDER,  
WHICH IS ABORTIVE UNDER THE RULES  
AND PROPERLY DENIED.

NIMS brought a motion under Rule 60(b), Utah R. Civ. P., to set aside the default judgment that had been entered against it. The motion was really an effort to have the trial court reconsider its decision granting GRO Enterprises's Motion to Enter Default. In support of its Rule 60(b) Motion, NIMS did not offer any evidence indicating that it had difficulty in responding to GRO Enterprises's original motion or that it did not have the opportunity to fully address the motion. Nor did NIMS offer any new evidence that was unavailable at or before the time the court granted judgment. Rather, in support of its Rule 60(b) motion, NIMS filed an additional affidavit reiterating the reasons why NIMS did not respond to the discovery. NIMS cited legal authorities for the proposition that the court had abused its discretion in sanctioning NIMS for its failure to respond to the discovery. In other words, NIMS wanted the court to reconsider the sanction that it had imposed as a result of NIMS' failure to cooperate in discovery.

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly held that a "motion to reconsider" does not exist, and is, in fact, abortive under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Utah State Employees Credit Union v. Riding, 24 Utah 2d 211, 469 P.2d 1 (1970). In articulating the reasoning behind that position, the Utah Supreme Court, in Peay v. Peay, 607 P.2d 841, 843 (Utah 1980), stated:

"[I]f the party ruled against were permitted to go beyond the rules, make the motion for reconsideration, and persuade the judge to reverse himself, the question arises, why should not the other party who is now ruled against be permitted to make a motion for re-re-consideration, asking the court to again reverse himself?

\* \* \*

". . . in order to avoid such a state of indecision for both the judge and the parties, practical expediency demands that there be some finality to the actions of the court; and he should not be in the position of having the further duty of acting as a court of review upon his own ruling."

Peay v. Peay, 607 P.2d, 843, quoting Drury v. Lunceford, 18 Utah 2d 74, 415 P.2d 662 (1966).

At the time NIMS's Rule 60(b) motion was brought, NIMS had already appealed the discovery sanctions. The docketing statement set forth the issue on appeal as:

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by sanctioning the failure to respond to discovery with a default judgment entered in the principal sum of \$12,559.70 (giving no allowance for the \$11,050.00 credit claimed) on the basis of an Order entered when defendant was unrepresented by counsel, where after the appearance of new counsel and the breakdown of settlement negotiations, appropriate response was made to the discovery within a

month despite the defendant's principal offers  
of being in Chile? [emphasis added]

NIMS filed its Notice of Appeal precisely because it did not agree with the trial court's determination that the sanctions were appropriate. The "excusable neglect" on which the Rule 60(b) motion was predicated was not neglect in responding to the Motion to Enter Default, but alleged neglect in failing to answer discovery. The Rule 60(b) motion was simply a motion to reconsider the original Motion to Enter Default, and it was properly denied.

POINT III.

NIMS DID NOT SHOW SUFFICIENT GROUNDS UNDER  
RULE 60(b) TO JUSTIFY SETTING ASIDE THE  
DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

Even if NIMS had properly brought a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside the default judgment, the court acted well within its discretion in denying the motion. In its brief on appeal, NIMS argues only that the default judgment should have been set aside because of the "interests of justice." NIMS does claim that the discovery was not answered because of excusable neglect, but NIMS does not offer any evidence that the judgment itself was entered as a result of excusable neglect, or any other reason under Rule 60(b)(1) (mistake, inadvertence, surprise). Rather, NIMS argues that because NIMS claims a credit, entry of a default judgment is a hardship, and it is in the best interests of justice to allow presentation of all defenses. (Appellant's Brief, pp.15-17). In essence, NIMS is arguing that it is unfair that a judgment was entered without NIMS being able to present its claimed defenses.

NIMS' reliance on Rule 60(b) is misplaced. NIMS has known from the commencement of the lawsuit that it claimed defenses to the lawsuit. It was presumably the subject of the accord and satisfaction defense presented in defendant's Answer to the Complaint. But NIMS's argument about the offset goes, not to an allegation of injustice, but to the merits of the case, which cannot even be considered on a Rule 60(b) motion. Larsen v. Collina, 684 P.2d 52 (Utah 1984). If all defendants were to be allowed relief from default because they suffered hardship of being unable to present their defenses, no default judgment would ever stand.

Even if the excuses NIMS offered for failing to answer the discovery were the proper basis for a Rule 60(b) motion, NIMS still did not show sufficient grounds to justify setting aside the default judgment. For more than three months prior to NIMS' new counsel's entry of appearance, NIMS failed to answer the discovery. Absolutely no excuse has been offered for that lengthy delay. After NIMS' new counsel entered an appearance, still no effort was made to apprise Gro Enterprises or the court of any difficulties NIMS was having in answering the discovery. Indeed, as of June 27, 1991, and after three extensions and a court Order requiring the defendant to answer, NIMS had still not filed answers, and had given no indication to Gro Enterprises that it had undertaken any efforts at all to answer the discovery. While NIMS's successor counsel may not have been at fault in failing to respond to the outstanding discovery, NIMS itself had failed for months to

cooperate. NIMS cannot avoid the consequences of its actions by switching lawyers mid-stream and then arguing injustice because new counsel was perhaps unaware of all that had previously transpired.

In the analogous case, Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92 (Utah 1986), the Supreme Court of the State of Utah upheld the trial court's entry of a default judgment against defendants who failed to answer a complaint. The defendants attempted to excuse their default by claiming they were negotiating a settlement with plaintiff's counsel. Approximately a week before the Answer was due, plaintiff's counsel advised the opposing attorney that if an Answer was not filed within the time limits, he would have the defendant's default entered and obtain a default judgment. The Court specifically commented on the defendants' failure to request additional time and their failure to notify plaintiff of any claimed hardship as a result of some of the defendants' out of state residence. Finding that the defendants had a responsibility to affirmatively seek an extension of time, the Court upheld the trial court's refusal to set aside the default.

In holding in Katz v. Pierce, the Utah Supreme Court acknowledged that an abuse of discretion must be shown in order for an appellate court to overrule a trial court in this circumstance, Id. at p. 93, and noted that an abuse of discretion will not be shown if substantial support for the trial court's decision exists in the record. Id. at p. 95.


In the case at issue, the record below substantially supports the trial court's decision to refuse to set aside the default

judgment. NIMS failed to show that the default judgment was entered as a result of excusable neglect. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to set aside the default judgment.

#### CONCLUSION

In controlling and managing its own calendar, the trial court is given broad discretion to sanction a litigant's failure to cooperate in discovery. In the case below, the trial court's discretion was properly exercised, both in first sanctioning NIMS's conduct with entry of a default and then refusing to reconsider its decision. The Default Judgment and the Order denying NIMS's motion to set aside the Default Judgment should be affirmed.